

CONSULTING AND TECHNICAL SERVICES (CATS II)
TASK ORDER REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (TORFP)

DIVISION OF UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE TAX FIELD AUDIT IMPROVEMENT PROJECT PROJECT MANAGEMENT SUPPORT

CATS II TORFP PROJECT # P00B2400008

SMALL BUSINESS RESERVE ONLY

# MARYLAND DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, LICENSING & REGULATION (DLLR)

**ISSUE DATE: 9/30/2011** 

## NOTICE TO BIDDERS/OFFERORS SMALL BUSINESS RESERVE PROCUREMENT

This is a Small Business Reserve Procurement for which award will be limited to certified small business vendors. Only businesses that meet the statutory requirements set forth in State Finance and Procurement Article, §§14-501 —14-505, Annotated Code of Maryland, and that are registered with the Department of General Services Small Business Reserve Program are eligible for award of a contract.

For the purposes of a Small Business Reserve Procurement, a small business is a for-profit business, other than a broker, that meets the following criteria:

- \* It is independently owned and operated;
- \* It is not a subsidiary of another business;
- \* It is not dominant in its field of operation;
- \* Its wholesale operations did not employ more than 50 persons, and its gross sales did not exceed an average of \$4,000,000 in its most recently completed 3 fiscal years;
- \* Its retail operations did not employ more than 25 persons, and its gross sales did not exceed an average of \$3,000,000 in its most recently completed 3 fiscal years;
- \* Its manufacturing operations did not employ more than 100 persons, and its gross sales did not exceed an average of \$2,000,000 in its most recently completed 3 fiscal years;
- \* Its service operations did not employ more than 100 persons, and its gross sales did not exceed an average of \$10,000,000 in its most recently completed 3 fiscal years;
- \* Its construction operations did not employ more than 50 persons, and its gross sales did not exceed an average of \$7,000,000 in its most recently completed 3 fiscal years; and
- \* The architectural and engineering services of the business did not employ more than 100 persons and the gross sales of the business did not exceed an average of \$4,500,000 in its most recently completed 3 fiscal years.
- \* If a business has not existed for 3 years, the employment and gross sales average or averages shall be the average for each year or part of a year during which the business has been in existence.

Further information on the certification process is available at <a href="www.dgs.state.md.us">www.dgs.state.md.us</a> and click on the Small Business Reserve hyperlink.

A. Ineligible Bids or Proposals. Under a small business reserve procurement, a business that is not a certified small business is ineligible for award of a contract.

B. Before awarding a contract under a contract designated as a small business reserve procurement, the procurement officer shall verify that the apparent awardee is certified by the Department of General Services as a small business. A procurement contract award under a small business reserve may not be made to a business that has not been certified.

C. Reporting. The designated procurement units shall submit a report on the Small Business Reserve Program.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	ON 1 - ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION	7
1.1	RESPONSIBILITY FOR TORFP AND TO AGREEMENT	7
1.2	TO AGREEMENT	7
1.3	TO PROPOSAL SUBMISSIONS	7
1.4	INTERVIEWS	
1.5	CONFLICT OF INTEREST	
1.6	NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT	
1.7	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY CEILING	
1.8	CONTRACT MANAGEMENT OVERSIGHT ACTIVITIES	
1.9	LIVING WAGE REQUIREMENTS	
1.10	SMALL BUSINESS RESERVE AFFIDAVIT	
	ON 2 – SCOPE OF WORK	10
2.1	PURPOSE	
2.2	REQUESTING AGENCY INFORMATION	
2.3	MANAGEMENT ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	10
2.4	PROJECT BACKGROUND AND DESCRIPTION	11
2.5	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	11
2.6	REQUIREMENTS	11
2.7	DLLR SUPPLIED SERVICES AND FACILITIES	19
2.8	REQUIRED PROJECT POLICIES, GUIDELINES AND METHODOLOGIES	19
2.9	TO CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS	
2.10	RETAINAGE	
2.11	INVOICING	
2.12	CHANGE ORDERS	
2.13	SECURITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY	
	ON 3 - TASK ORDER PROPOSAL FORMAT & SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS	
3.1	REQUIRED RESPONSE	
3.2	FORMAT	
3.2.1	THE TECHNICAL RESPONSE:	
3.2.2	THE FINANCIAL RESPONSE	25
CECTI	ON 4 – PROCEDURE FOR AWARDING A TO AGREEMENT	27
<b>SECTI 4.1</b>	ON 4 – PROCEDURE FOR AWARDING A TO AGREEMENT EVALUATION CRITERIA	47 27
	TECHNICAL PROPOSAL EVALUATION CRITERIA	
4.2		
4.3	SELECTION PROCEDURESCOMMENCEMENT OF WORK UNDER A TO AGREEMENT	41
4.4	COMMENCEMENT OF WORK UNDER A TO AGREEMENT	21
ATTAC	CHMENT 1 – PRICE PROPOSAL	28
ATTAC	CHMENT 2 – TASK ORDER AGREEMENT	29
ATTAC	CHMENT 3 – CONFLICT OF INTEREST AFFIDAVIT AND DISCLOSURE	32
	CHMENT 4 – LABOR CLASSIFICATION PERSONNEL RESUME SUMMARY	
	CHMENT 5 – DIRECTIONS TO THE PRE-TO PROPOSAL CONFERENCE	
	CHMENT 6 - NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT (OFFEROR)	
	CHMENT 7 - NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT (TO CONTRACTOR)	
	CHMENT 8 – TO CONTRACTOR SELF-REPORTING CHECKLIST	
	CHMENT 9 - DLLR RESOURCES AND DATA SHARING AGREEMENT	
	CHMENT 10- CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION (DPAF)	

ATTACHMENT 11 - LIVING WAGE REQUIREMENTS FOR SERVICE CONTRACTS	48
ATTACHMENT 12 - LIVING WAGE AFFIDAVIT OF AGREEMENT	50
ATTACHMENT 13 - SMALL BUSINESS CONTRACT AFFIDAVIT	52

#### **KEY INFORMATION SUMMARY SHEET**

This Consulting and Technical Services II (CATS II) Task Order Request for Proposals (TORFP) is issued to obtain the services necessary to satisfy the requirements defined in Section 2 - Scope of Work. All CATS II Master Contractors approved to perform work in the functional area under which this TORFP is released are invited to submit a Task Order (TO) Proposal to this TORFP. Master Contractors who elect not to submit a proposal must complete and submit a Master Contractor Feedback form via the CATS II web site. The form is accessible via the CATS II Master Contractor login screen and clicking on TORFP Feedback Response Form from the menu. In addition to the requirements of this TORFP, the Master Contractors are subject to all terms and conditions contained in the CATS II RFP issued by the Maryland Department of Information Technology (DoIT) and subsequent Master Contract Project Number 060B9800035, including any amendments.

TORFP NAME:	Tax Field Audit Improvement Project
TORIT NAME.	Project Management Support
Functional Area:	Functional Area 10 – IT Management Consulting services
Functional Area:	Functional Area 10 – 11 Wanagement Consulting services
TORFP Issue Date:	Friday, September 30, 2011
	Monday, October 24, 2011 @ 2:00 p.m.
Closing Date and Time:	1
TORFP Issuing Office:	Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation
Questions and Proposals are to be	Brenda Lee, Procurement Officer
send to:	blee@dllr.state.md.us
TO Procurement Officer:	Brenda Lee, Procurement Officer
	Office Phone Number: 410-230-6027
	Office FAX Number: 410-333-3384
TO Manager:	Brian Smith
	410-767-2490
Project Number:	P00B2400008
ТО Туре:	Fixed Price or Time and Materials (T&M)
Period of Performance:	One year with one 1½ -year renewals
MBE Goal:	0%
Small Business Reserve (SBR):	Yes
Primary Place of Performance:	DLLR
	1100 N. Eutaw St.
	Baltimore, MD 21201
State Furnish Work Site and/or	DLLR will furnish work site and/or access to equipment,
Access to Equipment, Facilities or	facilities or personnel as required.
Personnel:	
TO Pre-proposal Conference:	Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation
	1100 N. Eutaw Street, GWIB Conference Room
	Baltimore, MD 21201
	Wednesday, October 12, 2011 @ 10:00 a.m.
	•

#### **SECTION 1 - ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION**

#### 1.1 RESPONSIBILITY FOR TORFP AND TO AGREEMENT

The TO Procurement Officer has the primary responsibility for the management of the TORFP process, for the resolution of TO Agreement (TOA) scope issues, and for authorizing any changes to the TOA. See Section 2.12 for information on change orders.

The TO Manager has the primary responsibility for the management of the work performed under the TOA; administration functions, including issuing written directions; ensuring compliance with the terms and conditions of the CATS II Master Contract; and, in conjunction with the selected Master Contractor, achieving on budget/on time/on target (e.g., within scope) completion of the Scope of Work.

#### 1.2 TO AGREEMENT

Based upon an evaluation of TO Proposal responses, a Master Contractor will be selected to conduct the work defined in Section 2 - Scope of Work. A specific TOA, Attachment 2, will then be entered into between the Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (DLLR) and the selected Master Contractor, which will bind the selected Master Contractor (TO Contractor) to the contents of its TO Proposal, including the price proposal.

This TORFP is for services based on a Fixed Price Monthly contract up to the hours defined in Attachment 1 – PRICE PROPOSAL.

#### 1.3 TO PROPOSAL SUBMISSIONS

The TO Procurement Officer will not accept submissions after the stated date and exact time. The time will be local time as determined by DLLR e-mail system time stamp. The TO Proposal is to be submitted via e-mail and should be no larger than 8-10 MB to blee@dllr.state.md.us as two attachments in MS Word 2007 protect for No Change (read only) or PDF format. The "subject" line in the e-mail submission shall state the TORFP # P00B2400008.

- The first file will be the TO Proposal technical response to this TORFP and titled "CATS II TORFP # P00B2400008- Technical".
- The second file will be the financial response to this CATS II TORFP and titled, "CATS II TORFP # P00B2400008- Financial".
- The following proposal documents must be submitted with required signatures as **Adobe.PDF** files with signatures clearly visible:
  - Attachment 1 Price Proposal
  - Attachment 3 Conflict of Interest Affidavit and Disclosure
  - Attachment 4 Labor Classification Personnel Resume Summary
  - Attachment 6 Non-Disclosure Agreement (Offeror)
  - Attachment 12 Living Wage Affidavit of Agreement
  - Attachment 13 Small Business Contract Affidavit

#### 1.4 INTERVIEWS

Only resources proposed by the Master Contractor shall be interviewed. Therefore, the Master Contractor is not required to attend. Significant representations made by the proposed resource during the interview shall be submitted in writing. All such representations will become part of the Master Contractor's proposal and are binding if the Contract is awarded. The TO Manager will notify Master Contractor of the time and place of interviews.

#### 1.5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The TO Contractor awarded the TO Agreement shall provide IT technical and/or consulting services for DLLR or component programs with DLLR, and must do so impartially and without any conflicts of interest. Each Master Contractor shall complete and include a Conflict of Interest Affidavit and Disclosure in the form included as Attachment 3 of this TORFP with its TO Proposal. If the TO Procurement Officer makes a determination that facts or circumstances exist that give rise to or could, in the future, give rise to a conflict of interest within the meaning of COMAR 21.05.08.08A, the TO Procurement Officer may reject a Master Contractor's TO Proposal under COMAR 21.06.02.03B.

Master Contractors should be aware that the State Ethics Law, State Government Article, §15-508, might limit the selected Master Contractor's ability to participate in future related procurements, depending upon specific circumstances.

#### 1.6 NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

Certain system documentation may be available for potential Offerors to review at a reading room at 1100 N. Eutaw, Baltimore, MD 21201. Offerors who review such documentation will be required to sign a Non-Disclosure Agreement (Offeror) in the form of Attachment 6. Please contact the TO Procurement Officer of this TORFP to schedule an appointment.

In addition, certain documentation may be required by the TO Contractor awarded the TO Agreement in order to fulfill the requirements of the TO Agreement. The TO Contractor, employees, and agents who review such documents will be required to sign a Non-Disclosure Agreement (TO Contractor) in the form of Attachment 7.

#### 1.7 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY CEILING

Pursuant to Section 27 (C) of the CATS II Master Contract, the limitation of liability per claim under this TORFP shall not exceed the total TO Agreement amount established.

#### 1.8 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT OVERSIGHT ACTIVITIES

Department of Information Technology (DoIT) is responsible for contract management oversight on the CATS II Master Contract. As part of that oversight, DoIT has implemented a process for self-reporting contract management activities of CATS II task orders (TO). This process shall

typically apply to active TOs for operations, maintenance, and support valued at \$1 million or greater, but all CATS II TOs are subject to review.

Attachment 8 is the TO Contractor Self-Reporting Checklist. DoIT will send initial checklists out to applicable TO Contractors approximately three months after the award date for a TO. The TO Contractor shall complete and return the checklist as instructed on the checklist. Subsequently, at six month intervals from the due date on the initial checklist, the TO Contractor shall update and resend the checklist to DoIT.

#### 1.9 LIVING WAGE REQUIREMENTS

A solicitation for services under a State contract valued at \$100,000 or more may be subject to Title 18, State Finance and Procurement (SFP) Article, Annotated Code of Maryland. Additional information regarding the State's living wage requirements is contained in this solicitation (see Attachment 11). The State may determine an Offeror to be not responsive.

Contracts and Subcontractors subject to the Living Wage Law shall pay each covered employee at least a minimum amount set by law for the applicable Tier Area; currently \$12.49 per hour in the Tier 1 Area and \$9.39 per hour in the Tier 2 Area. The specific Living Wage rate is determined by whether a majority of services take place in a Tier 1 Area or Tier 2 Area of the State. The Tier 1 Area includes Montgomery, Prince George's, Howard, Anne Arundel, and Baltimore Counties, and Baltimore City. The Tier 2 Area includes any county in the State not included in the Tier 1 Area. In the event that the employees who perform the services are not located in the State, the head of the unit responsible for a State contract pursuant to \$18-102 (d) of the SFP Article shall assign the tier based upon where the recipients of the services are located.

The contract resulting from this solicitation has been deemed to be a Tier 1 contract.

#### 1.10 SMALL BUSINESS RESERVE AFFIDAVIT

This is a Small Business Reserve Procurement for which the award will be limited to Certified Small Business vendors. Only businesses that meet the statutory requirements set forth in the State Finance and Procurement Article §14-501-14505, Annotated Code of Maryland and who are registered with the Department of General Services Small Business Reserve Program are eligible for award of a contract. (For more information see Attachment 13).

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

#### **SECTION 2 – SCOPE OF WORK**

#### 2.1 PURPOSE

- A) The Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing & Regulation's Division of Unemployment Insurance (UI) is issuing this CATS II TORFP to acquire a highly qualified Project Manager (PM) with current Project Management Professional (PMP) certification to manage the Tax Field Audit Improvement Project effectively and perform the required tasks and deliverables as specified for this TORFP.
- B) This TORFP is for project management support services based on a fixed price monthly contract, up to the hours defined in Attachment 1 PRICE PROPOSAL.
- C) On-site presence is required unless otherwise approved by the TO Manager.

#### 2.2 REQUESTING AGENCY INFORMATION

DLLR's Division of UI provides benefits to persons who are unemployed through no fault of their own and who are ready, willing and able to work, and actively seeking work. The office is located at 1100 N. Eutaw, Baltimore, Maryland 21201. All work will be performed at this location.

Within UI, the Contributions Division (Tax) is dedicated to ensuring that eligible citizens of Maryland have access to unemployment insurance benefits when and if it is necessary. The Contributions Division's responsibilities include collecting quarterly unemployment insurance contributions from liable employers and paying unemployment benefits to entitled individuals.

#### 2.3 MANAGEMENT ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The roles and responsibilities of this Task Order's Key Management Personnel are defined as follows:

- <u>TO Procurement Officer</u> DLLR representative responsible for managing the TO solicitation and award process, change order process, and resolution of TOA scope issues.
- <u>TO Manager</u> DLLR representative responsible for managing the day to day activities of the TO including the direct supervision of the on-site Contractor personnel. The TO Manager will also be responsible for preparation of the TO solicitation, review and approval of proposed change orders, review and approval of proposed substitution of personnel, review and approval of invoices, and monitoring and reporting Contractor personnel performance.
- <u>TO Contractor Manager</u> Representative of the Master Contractor who oversees their personnel assigned under this TO. This representative will be the point of contact for managing and correcting any disputes related to this TO. This representative will also be responsible for the preparation and submittal of invoices by the due date defined in this TO as well as any other correspondence relating to this TO and its activities.

#### 2.4 PROJECT BACKGROUND AND DESCRIPTION

As stated above, the Contributions Division is dedicated to ensuring that eligible citizens of Maryland have access to unemployment insurance benefits when and if it is necessary. To accomplish this, the Contributions Division must: detect and accurately determine unemployment insurance tax liability, collect quarterly reports and taxes from liable employers, and accurately manage the unemployment insurance trust fund collections and disbursements.

Through targeted audits, Maryland is identifying employers attempting to avoid taxes. Related investigations of disputed unemployment insurance claims have led to a substantial increase in the discovery of unreported workers and the recovery of thousands of dollars in unpaid taxes. However, target audits are typically more complex and have more issues than random audits. This complexity has increased the average audit time.

The Division of UI is seeking a PM to oversee revisions to the Tax Field Audit Improvement project which will ultimately enable auditors to perform complex audits in less time and detect more misclassified workers. Specifically, this individual will review Maryland's current tax audit program, research best practices from other states, and interview current staff. The results of these activities must be documented in a format that can be shared with staff.

Based on these findings, the Project Manager will create a needs assessment, work with UI staff to complete a TORFP, interview and hire a Development Contractor and oversee the development and implementation of an improved UI Tax Audit program.

#### 2.5 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Technology continuously changes. The TO Contractor must ensure continuing education opportunities for personnel provided it does not hinder the completion of any TORFP tasks. Hours and actual course costs are the responsibility of the TO Contractor and may not be applied to the project.

#### 2.6 REQUIREMENTS

#### 2.6.1 TO CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The TO Contractor shall provide a highly qualified PM who is certified as a Project Management Professional (PMP) by the Project Management Institute (PMI). The individual provided by the selected TO Contractor shall apply PMI's Project Management Body of Knowledge (PMBOK) and State of Maryland System Development Life Cycle (SDLC) standards and methodologies to manage the UI Tax Field Audit Improvement Project.

The PM must be capable of performing all assigned tasks with self-sufficiency and minimal guidance from the TO Manager. PM performance quality shall be rated each month (see Attachment 10 – Contractor Performance Evaluation Form for performance rating criteria).

<u>Project Manager (PM)</u> – The person provided by the CATS II Master Contractor as a result of this TORFP. The PM is responsible for performing the duties and responsibilities described in this Scope of Work (SOW), and for completing all requirements and deliverables under this TORFP. The PM reports to the TO Manager and oversees project work by the TO Development Contractor (see below) for UI's Tax Field Audit Improvement Project. The PM strictly represents the Agency for project purposes.

The PM shall report to the TO Manager and shall perform the tasks described in the table below, but not limited to:

	Project Management Activities	
2.6.1.1	Become thoroughly knowledgeable on all Tax activities to function as the	
	project PM.	
2.6.1.2	Develop a Project Management Plan (PMP) to include Project Scope controls	
	and change management, schedule management, organization change	
	management, and project contacts. The PMP and activities are further defined	
	in Section 2.6.2.	
2.6.1.3	Gather data on the existing Tax Audit Program and best practices from other	
	states as identified by the TO Manager.	
2.6.1.4	Prepare a document that outlines the current "as-is" business process.	
2.6.1.5	Prepare a document that outlines the Functional Requirements for system	
	improvement.	
2.6.1.6	Submit the System Requirements Document to the TO Manager for review.	
2.6.1.7	Collaborate with DLLR staff to write a TORFP in order to procure a	
	Development Contractor to implement recommendations and DLLR	
	requirements.	
2.6.1.8	Participate in selection process for a Development Contractor.	
2.6.1.9	Function as a liaison between DLLR staff, project stakeholders, and the	
	Development Contractor	
2.6.1.10	Work with Development Contractor to plan the design and implementation of	
	the suggested improvements.	
2.6.1.11	Create an Integrated Master Schedule.	
2.6.1.12	Schedule, facilitate, and document weekly status and risk discussions with the	
	Development Contractor based on project status reports provided by the	
	Development Contractor. Transfer pertinent status and risk dispositions to the	
	Master Status Report (see 2.6.1.14 below). The PM shall create a Risk	
2 ( 1 12	Management Plan and maintain a Risk Register for the project.	
2.6.1.13	Work closely with the DLLR TO Manager and Development Contractor to develop or review and update project requirements, including Functional Requirements and	
	System Requirements.	
	Requirements activities may include:	
	Stakeholder meetings and interviews;	
	<ul> <li>Documenting "as-is" and "to-be" business processes;</li> </ul>	
	Review of existing requirements documentation;	

	7.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1
	<ul> <li>Joint Application Development (JAD) sessions;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Demonstrations of existing similar systems (benchmarking); and</li> </ul>
	Requirements walkthroughs
2.6.1.14	Work with the Development Contractor to integrate their plan and methodology
	into the Integrated Master Schedule to track all project progress. Revise and
	maintain ongoing updates to the Project Management Plan and related project
	components as outlined in the Maryland's SDLC.
2.6.1.15	Coordinate with the Development Contractor to control the project according to
	the Project Management Plan. Work with the Development Contractor to
	address schedule variances. Document schedule variances in the Integrated
	Master Schedule and Master Status Report.
2.6.1.16	Collect, organize, store, and manage project documents in a central repository.
	This includes maintaining current and archival files (electronic and paper),
	collecting and distributing information to and from stakeholders, and entering
	updates into Agency internal weekly status reports and project tracking systems.
2.6.1.17	Manage change orders in accordance with the Change Management Plan
	developed by the PM and approved by the TO Manager for this project. Work
	with the project team to define change order scope, cost, and project impact.
	Perform cost-benefit analyses, and provide valid justifications for change
	orders. Document and coordinate the implementation of change orders.
2.6.1.18	Develop a Configuration Management Plan. Review and as necessary develop a
2.0.1.10	written procedure for configuration control for application code promotion;
2.6.1.19	
2.0.1.17	
26120	
2.0.1.20	
26121	
2.0.1.21	
26122	1 0
2.0.1.23	
26124	
2.0.1.24	
26125	
2.0.1.25	
2.6.1.26	,
	copies, scheduling and attending ad hoc meetings, engaging in TO performance
	discussions, and coordinating Development Contractor invoicing.
2.6.1.20 2.6.1.21 2.6.1.22 2.6.1.23 2.6.1.24 2.6.1.25	

<u>Development Contractor</u> – The Development Contractor is responsible for the system development, including their PM and other personnel assigned to the project. The Development Contractor will report to the PM for project purposes with oversight by the TO Manager.

## 2.6.2 DELIVERABLES, TIME OF PERFORMANCE AND ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA

The table below describes the deliverables required under the TORFP and corresponding Time of Performance based on Notice to Proceed (NTP). The PM is expected to create any and all of the written deliverables that do not exist for the project, and review and update those that do exist. The PM will ensure that all deliverables are consistent with standards in the PMI PMBOK and State of Maryland SDLC.

ID#	Deliverable Description	Time of Performance
2.6.2.1	<ul> <li>Project Management Support – Provide Project Management Support consistent with PMI and PMBOK principles of project management and the SDLC. Manage project resources including oversight of the Development Contractor and their PM. Define best practices for the project and perform project activities consistent with the nine knowledge areas including:         <ul> <li>Procurement Management - consisting of procurement planning, contracts planning, requesting solicitation responses, selecting contractor(s), administering contract(s), and contract(s) closing activities.</li> <li>Schedule Management - consisting of activity definition and sequencing, resource estimating, duration estimating, schedule development, and schedule control activities.</li> <li>Integration Management - consisting of project plan development, project plan execution, and integrated change control activities.</li> <li>Scope Management - consisting of project initiation, scope planning, scope definition and scope change control activities.</li> <li>Cost Management - consisting of resource planning, cost estimating, budgeting and cost control activities such as expenditure tracking and management.</li> <li>Human Resources Management - consisting of organizational planning, project team acquisition and staff development activities.</li> <li>Risk Management - consisting of risk management planning, risk identification, risk quantitative and qualitative analysis, response planning, monitoring, and control activities.</li> <li>Quality Management - consisting of organizations planning, information distribution, progress and performance reporting, and stakeholder communications management activities.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Performance  NTP onward through the duration of the TO

	Encompasses the duties and responsibilities in Section 2.6.1 above and culminates in the overall effective execution and control of the Tax Field Audit Improvement Project. This is a single continuous deliverable encompassing all other deliverables described in this section.  Note - The quality of this deliverable is based on PM performance in the nine PMBOK knowledge areas as applied to the Tax Field Audit Improvement Project, and the quality of the written deliverables in this section.	
	The Project Management Support deliverable shall be assessed by the TO Manager via the process described in Section 2.6.6.	
	for each of the written deliverables below, ongoing quality will	be a factor in the
	Project Management Plan An MS Word document that	NTD + 15
2.6.2.3	Project Management Plan — An MS Word document that defines how the project will be executed, monitored and controlled. The document shall be developed with input from the project team and key stakeholders. The plan defines the managerial, technical, and supporting processes and activities, and address topics including Scope Management, Schedule Management, Financial Management, Quality Management, Resource Management, Communications Management, Project Change Management, Risk Management, and Procurement Management as defined in the PMBOK. Create/update and maintain an ongoing document.  Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) — A MS Project document with tiers showing project milestones or phases in the top level with a breakdown of major project tasks into smaller "work	NTP + 15 business days, updated quarterly and as needed  NTP + 15 business days.
	packages" underneath. Work packages at the bottom level shall have measurable, testable, or observable outputs suitable for tracking project progress.	
2.6.2.4	Integrated Master Schedule – An MS Project document based on the WBS and suitable for tracking project activities. This schedule shall include all project management, agency and contractor activities in sufficient detail to manage the project. At a minimum, the Master Schedule shall show milestones, deliverables, times of performance, degrees of completion and resources for all project activities during the SDLC. The activities durations in the master schedule shall have the appropriate degree of granularity to manage and track project progress (i.e. tasks are broken down to 80 hour levels or less). This is a single, base-lined and periodically updated deliverable encompassing all project activities.	NTP + 20 business days, updated as needed.

2.6.2.5	Communications Plan – An MS Word document that captures a stakeholder contact list, the types of information to be disseminated, the format for each type, a schedule of when information shall be produced and disseminated, and the method for updating the communications plan. This is a single deliverable maintained throughout the life of project.  Risk Management Plan (RMP) and Risk Registry – An MS Word document that describes the risk management procedures for the project. The RMP shall include a table of potential risks and recommended risk responses, and will incorporate risk information found in deliverables provided by the Development Contractor. This is a single, periodically updated deliverable	NTP + 20 business days , Updates as needed  NTP + 20 business days, Updates as needed.
	encompassing all project risks. A <i>Risk Registry</i> shall be created for logging all project risk using MS Excel or other appropriate table format.	
2.6.2.7	Deliverable Comments Matrix (DCM) — An MS Word document used to capture comments and recommended changes to each deliverable from Development Contractor, or SDLC product, prior to acceptance. A separate DCM is required for each deliverable or SDLC product. The PM will review deliverables, and coordinate the review of deliverables among appropriate stakeholders for completeness and conformance to project requirements. The PM shall then document resulting issues and questions in the DCM to be resolved by the Development Contractor prior to deliverable acceptance. Review subsequent updated versions of deliverables to ensure all issues and questions have been resolved satisfactorily.	Project deliverable due date + 5 business days
2.6.2.8	The DCM process is part of the Quality Assurance Plan.  Change Management Plan – An MS Word document that describes the procedure for proposing, evaluating, approving, and documenting changes to project scope, schedule, and cost. This Plan shall include any tools or templates used for change management, i.e., change request form. At a minimum, the Change Management Plan shall describe the change management and approval processes, and the tools used (i.e., change request form, change order). Processes should include:  Coordination with the TO Manager for review and approval of proposed changes to the project;  Coordination with Development Contractor for review and agreement on proposed changes; and  For approved changes, project integration management consistent with the PMBOK.  Additionally, the PM shall review existing change management logs and determine which items will be taken forward for further analysis.	NTP + 30 business days, updated as needed

2.6.2.9	Requirements Traceability Matrix (RTM) - an MS Excel or	NTP + 30	
	other appropriate tool that describes technical and functional	business days,	
	requirements. At a minimum, requirements shall have unique	updated as	
	identification, be testable and have unambiguous descriptions.	needed	
	The RTM shall contain acceptance criteria for each requirement		
	and a test method for verifying completion based on the criteria.		
2.6.2.10	Quality Assurance (QA) Plan - An MS Word document that	NTP + 35	
	describes how quality, meaning conformance to project	business days,	
	requirements, will be monitored throughout the project life	updated as	
	cycle. The QA Plan shall describe the steps for deliverable	needed	
	review and updating via the DCM process. The Plan shall		
	describe the requirements tracking process via the requirements		
	traceability process. The QA plan should define signoff		
	procedures for project milestones and deliverables.		
2.6.2.11	Master Status Report – An MS Word document that captures	NTP + 14	
	and tracks ongoing project activities and status. The PM shall	business days	
	schedule and lead weekly project team meetings in which	and bi-weekly	
	design / requirements reviews and discussions on project status,	thereafter	
	risk, and issues occur. The PM shall record activities		
	completed, project status, risk, issue dispositions for the past		
	week, status of efforts to resolve issues, lessons learned planned		
	activities for the week upcoming and the completion status of		
	project deliverables, in the Status Report. The Status Report		
	shall have sections describing PM activities and needed updates		
	to the Integrated Master Schedule, Master RMP, and RTM. The		
	Master Status Report shall contain a section for lessons learned		
0 ( 0 1 5	from the project and any other pertinent status information.	m 1	
2.6.2.12	Other management plans, such as Human Resource	To be	
	Management, Cost Management, and Procurement Management	determined by	
	as deemed necessary by the TO Manager.	the TO Manager	

## 2.6.3 WORK HOURS

The proposed PM must be able to work an eight-hour day between the hours of 7:00 AM and 6:00 PM, Monday through Friday except for State holidays, furlough or service reduction days where UI staff is not in attendance, as approved by the TO Manager. Services may also involve some evening and/or weekend and/or service reduction hours billed on actual time worked at the proposed hourly rate.

#### 2.6.4 SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT

A) The proposed PM shall work at 1100 N. Eutaw Street, Room 414, Baltimore, Maryland 21201. The PM assigned to this TORFP shall adhere to DLLR's policies regarding the use of telephone, internet, computer equipment, and DLLR's Human Resources Employment Policies.

B) The TO Contractor's personnel shall provide bi-weekly, monthly, and upon request reports on the status of all active assignments to include work accomplished.

The Activity Report will be due:

- Every other week by COB on Friday (no later than 8 am on Monday regardless of holidays).
- Must be provided bi-weekly, even if no work is performed.
- Must include CATS II TORFP # P00B2400008, performance period, resource name, job classification, date/time and amount of time worked (not less than 15 minute increments), Work Order number, and description of work performed. In addition, a Summary section must be included with the total hours expended during the current month, the total hours expended to date, and the total remaining hours.

## 2.6.5 HARDWARE, SOFTWARE, AND MATERIALS

- A) Hardware procurement shall not be required under this TORFP. All maintenance for server hardware and OS support will be provided by DLLR's Office of Information Technology (OIT) LAN Support. Maintenance of the respective databases will be provided by DLLR OIT DB TECH Support.
- B) Software procurement shall not be required under this TORFP. Software developed under this TO shall be considered an integral part of the system and owned exclusively by DLLR.

#### 2.6.6 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

TO Contractor personnel will be formally evaluated by the TO Manger on a monthly basis. The established performance evaluation and standards are included as Attachment 10. Performance issues identified by the agency at <u>any time</u> and throughout the duration of the contract are subject to the mitigation process described in Section 2.6.7 below.

#### 2.6.7 PERFORMANCE PROBLEM MITIGATION

As warranted by poor or non-performance by the PM, DLLR shall pursue the following mitigation procedures prior to requesting a replacement PM:

- A) The TO Manager shall document performance issues and give written notice to the PM TO Contractor clearly describing problems and delineating remediation requirement(s).
- B) The PM TO Contractor shall respond with a written remediation plan within three business days and implement the plan immediately upon written acceptance by the TO Manager.
- C) Should performance issues persist, the TO Manager may give written notice or request the immediate removal of PM whose performance is at issue, and determine whether a substitution is required.

## 2.6.8 SUBSTITUTION OF PERSONNEL AND CONTRACTOR STAFF REPLACEMENT

The TO Contractor shall only propose staff available at the time of the TO Proposal that satisfy the personnel qualifications specified in section 2.9. The substitution of personnel procedures is as follows: The TO Contractor may not substitute personnel (other than by reason of death or sudden incapacitating illness projected to last more than 5 days, or termination of employment) without the prior approval of the TO Manager. To replace any personnel, the TO Contractor shall submit resumes of the proposed personnel along with their initial request in writing as soon as the need for substitution is known but no longer than three business days from the initial request. All proposed substitute personnel shall have qualifications equal to or better than those of the replaced personnel and must be approved by the TO Manager. The TO Manager shall interview the proposed substitute personnel. After the interview, the TO Manager shall notify the TO Contractor in writing of acceptance or denial of the requested substitution.

In the event of staff replacement for any reason, the TO Contractor is responsible for providing the knowledge transfer to the approved replacement staff resource. This knowledge transfer shall be performed at no additional cost to DLLR. Frequent staff replacements may result in termination of this contract.

#### 2.7 DLLR SUPPLIED SERVICES AND FACILITIES

At DLLR, 1100 N. Eutaw Street, Baltimore, MD 21201 a reasonable level of the following items may be provided as needed:

- Work space;
- Access to required data;
- PC & e-mail account;
- Access to telephone and fax equipment (local use only);
- Photocopier(s) and printer(s);

DLLR will provide the following information technology for use in performing this task as required:

- Any available system documentation;
- Program code, database schemas, and related descriptor files.

Parking is not provided and may not be charged to DLLR. DLLR will not pay for any costs incurred at the TO Contractor site not included in the cost proposal for this TORFP.

## 2.8 REQUIRED PROJECT POLICIES, GUIDELINES AND METHODOLOGIES

The TO Contractor and assigned PM shall keep informed of and comply with all applicable laws, regulations, policies, standards and guidelines affecting information technology projects applicable to its activities and obligations under the TORFP, as those laws, policies, standards and guidelines may be amended from time to time. The TO Contractor and assigned PM shall adhere to and remain abreast of current, new, and revised laws, regulations, policies, standards

and guidelines affecting project execution and shall obtain and maintain, at their expense, all licenses, permits, insurance, and governmental approvals, if any, necessary to the performance of its obligations under the TORFP. The following policies, guidelines, and methodologies can be found at <a href="http://doit.maryland.gov/policies/Pages/ContractPolicies.aspx">http://doit.maryland.gov/policies/Pages/ContractPolicies.aspx</a> under "Policies and Guidance." These may include, but are not limited to:

- A) The State's SDLC methodology
- B) The nine project management knowledge areas in the PMI's PMBOK.
- C) The State's IT Security Policy and Standards
- D) The State's IT Project Oversight
- E) The State's Enterprise Architecture
- F) OIT's internal policies governing change management, documentation, maintenance, privacy and security, testing, training, disaster recovery, and data management will apply to all work under this TORFP. TORFP Contractor personnel assigned shall adhere to these policies as directed by DLLR OIT Management.

## 2.9 TO CONTRACTOR PERSONNEL MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS

Proposals / Resumes must demonstrate the following minimum qualifications:

- A) A Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the Information Technology discipline or related field.
- B) Current PMI certification and at least five (5) years of experience in applying the PMBOK methodology to project management.
- C) Minimum of two (2) projects where System Development Life Cycle (SDLC) documentation was required.
- D) Minimum of three (3) years of experience with Windows, SharePoint, IBM mainframe database and mobile technology.
- E) Minimum of five (5) years of experience in managing IT related projects specifically and must demonstrate a leadership role in at least three (3) successful projects that were delivered on time, on budget, and within scope.
- F) Minimum of two (2) projects where the proposed personnel was responsible for business requirements gathering and documentation.
- G) Minimum of one (1) project that required tax or accounting knowledge.
- H) Experience writing at least three (3) Requests for Proposals.
- I) Excellent verbal communication skills and knowledge of Project Management practices and processes as demonstrated in phone screen.

#### 2.10 RETAINAGE

Due to the nature of Project Management work and the acceptance process by DLLR, there shall be no retainage required for this contract.

#### 2.11 INVOICING

#### 2.11.1 PROCEDURES FOR SUBMITTING AN INVOICE

- A) Invoices shall be submitted monthly on or before the 15<sup>th</sup> of the month. Invoices will reflect costs for hours worked. Upon verification and acceptance of the invoices by the TO Manager, payment will be made to the TO Contractor.
- B) Invoice payments to the TO Contractor shall be governed by the terms and conditions

defined in the CATS II Master Contract. Invoices for payment shall contain the TO Contractor's Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN), as well as the information described below, and must be submitted to the TO Manager for payment approval.

- 1) The name and address of the Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (as the TO Requesting Agency);
- 2) The vendor name, remittance address, federal taxpayer identification or (if owned by an individual) his/her social security number;
- 3) The Invoice Date, Invoice Number, Amount Due, the associated CATS II TORFP Number (DLLR FY2012-002), Purchase Order Number (P00B2400008) being billed, period of performance covered by the invoice, hours and rate, Contractor Point of Contact (POC) and phone number; and
- 4) Additional information may be required in the future. Invoices submitted without the required information will not be processed for payment until the TO Contractor provides the required information.
- C) The TO Contractor shall send the original of each invoice, with attached timesheets detailing hours and tasks performed, for payment to DLLR at the following address:

Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation 1100 North Eutaw Street Room 414 Baltimore, MD 21201 Attention: Brian Smith

Invoice for final payment shall be clearly marked as "Final" and submitted when all work requirements have been completed and no further charges are to be incurred under the TORFP. In no event shall any invoice be submitted later than 60 calendar days from the TORFP termination date.

#### 2.12 CHANGE ORDERS

If the TO Contractor is required to perform additional work, or there is a work reduction due to unforeseen scope changes, the TO Contractor and TO Manager shall negotiate a mutually acceptable price modification based on the TO Contractor's proposed rates in the Master Contract and scope of the work change based on the hours required. No scope of work modifications shall be performed until a change order is executed by the TO Procurement Officer.

## 2.13 SECURITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY

- A) The TO Contractor shall comply with and adhere to the Maryland State IT Security Policy and Standards located at <a href="http://doit.maryland.gov/support/Pages/SecurityPolicies.aspx">http://doit.maryland.gov/support/Pages/SecurityPolicies.aspx</a>
- B) Security Regarding TO Contractor-owned Computer Equipment. The TO Contractor shall not connect any of its own equipment to DLLR's LAN/WAN without prior written approval by the State. The State will provide equipment as necessary for support that

- entails connection to the State LAN/WAN, or give prior written approval as necessary for connection.
- C) The TO Contractor shall provide and fill-out any necessary paperwork for security access if access is needed to the State's LAN/WAN, as directed by the TO Manager.
- D) At all times at any facility, the TO Contractor's personnel shall ensure cooperation with State site requirements which may include: being prepared to be escorted at all times, and providing information for wearing the badge in a visual location at all times.
- E) Each person who is an employee or agent of the TO Contractor or subcontractor shall display his or her company ID badges at all times while on State premises. Each such employee or agent upon request of State personnel shall provide additional photo identification.
- F) Security Clearance:
  - 1) The Department reserves the right to refuse to allow any individual employee to work on State premises, based upon certain specified criminal convictions.
  - 2) An employee of the TO Contractor who has been convicted of a felony or of a crime involving telecommunications and electronics shall not be permitted to work on State premises pursuant to this Contract.
- G) On-site Security requirement(s): For all conditions noted below, the TO Contractor's personnel may be barred from entrance or leaving any site until such time that the State conditions and queries are satisfied.
  - 1) Any person who is an employee or agent of the TO Contractor or subcontractor and who enters the premises of a facility under the jurisdiction of the DLLR may be searched, fingerprinted (for the purpose of a criminal history background check), photographed and required to wear an identification card issued by DLLR.
  - 2) Further, the TO Contractor, its employees and agents and Subcontractor employees and agents, agree to abide by any and all state statutes, regulations or policies regulating access to state facilities.
- H) <u>DLLR Resources and Data Sharing</u>: The TO Contractor shall be required to have staff sign the DLLR Resources and Data Sharing agreement, Attachment 9.

## SECTION 3 - TASK ORDER PROPOSAL FORMAT & SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS

#### 3.1 REQUIRED RESPONSE

Each Master Contractor receiving this CATS II TORFP must respond within the submission time designated in the Key Information Summary Sheet. Each Master Contractor is required to submit one of two possible responses: 1) a proposal, or 2) a completed Master Contractor Feedback form submitted electronically via the CATS II web site explaining why the Master Contractor will not be submitting a proposal. The form is accessible via the CATS II Master Contractor login screen and clicking on TORFP Feedback Response Form from the menu.

Each Master Contractor may only submit one proposal in response to this TORFP.

#### 3.2 FORMAT

If a Master Contractor elects to submit a TO Proposal, the Master Contractor shall do so in conformance with the requirements of this CATS II TORFP. A TO Proposal shall provide the following sections **in order**:

#### 3.2.1 THE TECHNICAL RESPONSE:

The technical response shall include:

#### A) Transmittal Letter

A transmittal letter must accompany the technical proposal. The purpose of this letter is to transmit the proposal and acknowledge the receipt of any addenda. The transmittal letter should be brief and reflect the individual who is authorized to commit the TO Contractor to the services and requirements as stated in the TO Proposal.

#### B) Title and Table of Contents

The technical proposal shall begin with a title page bearing the name and address of the TO Contractor and the name and number of the TORFP. A table of contents shall follow the title page.

#### C) Executive Summary

The TO Contractor shall condense and highlight the contents of the technical proposal in a separate section titled "Executive Summary." Within the Executive Summary, the TO Contractor shall clearly identify what services they are proposing. The Summary shall provide a broad overview of the contents of the entire proposal.

- 1) The TO Contractor shall state that they have no exceptions to the requirements of this TORFP, the TO Agreement (Attachment 2), or any other attachments. **Warning:** Exceptions to terms and conditions shall result in having the proposal deemed unacceptable or classified as not reasonably susceptible of being selected for award.
- 2) The TO Contractor shall clearly state that they are listed on the CATS II Master Contract for the functional area for which they are proposing services.

#### D) Proposed Services – Work Plan

- 1) Requirements: A detailed discussion of the Master Contractor's understanding of the work and the TO Contractor's capabilities, approach, and solution to address the requirements outlined in Section 2 –Scope of Work.
- 2) Assumptions: A description of any assumptions formed by the Master Contractor in developing the technical proposal.

### E) Proposed Personnel

- 1) The TO Contractor must provide the resource for the proposed Labor Categories listed on Attachment 1. Each resource will be vetted based on the following criteria:
  - Resume
  - Minimum requirements specified in this TORFP as stated in Section 2.9
  - References for work performed of similar scope and magnitude
  - Completed Attachment 4 Labor Classification Personnel Resume Summary
  - Interview with DLLR to occur during the evaluation process
- 2) The resume should highlight the proposed personnel's applicable responsibilities and accomplishments as they relate to the requirements of this TORFP. Specifically:
  - Three examples of projects that the proposed Project Manager completed that were similar in scope to the one defined in this TORFP Scope of Work. Each of the three examples must include a reference, complete with the following:
    - a) Name of organization.
    - b) Name, title, and telephone number of point-of-contact for the reference.
    - c) Type and duration of contract(s) supporting the reference.
    - d) The services provided, scope of the contract, and performance objectives satisfied as they relate to the scope of this TORFP.
- 3) Certification that all proposed personnel meet the minimum required qualifications and possess the required certifications in accordance with this TORFP. Submission must include a copy of current PMI certification.
- 4) The proposed candidate must meet all of the qualifications as defined in the Labor Categories for which they are associated and documented in Attachment 4 Labor Classification Personnel Resume Summary.
- 5) Provide the names and titles of all key management personnel who will be involved with supervising the services rendered under this TORFP.
- 6) The TO Contractor shall only propose staff available at the time of this TORFP.

#### F) Staffing Strategy

- 1) Clearly indicate whether or not the proposed resource is an employee (W-2) of the TO Contractor or if they are a sub-contractor consultant paid hourly.
- G) State of Maryland Experience: If applicable, the Master Contractor shall submit a list of all contracts it currently holds or has held within the past five years with any government entity of the State of Maryland. For each identified contract, the Master Contractor shall provide:
  - a) The State contracting entity
  - b) A brief description of the services/goods provided
  - c) The dollar value of the contract
  - d) The term of the contract
  - e) Whether the contract was terminated prior to the specified original contract termination date
  - f) Whether any available renewal option was not exercised
  - g) The State employee contact person (name, title, telephone number, and e-mail address)

This information will be considered as part of the experience and past performance evaluation criteria in the TORFP.

#### H) Confidentiality

A Master Contractor should give specific attention to the identification of those portions of its proposal that it considers confidential, proprietary commercial information or trade secrets, and provide justification why such materials, upon request, should not be disclosed by the State under the Public Information Act, Title 10, Subtitle 6, of the State Government Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland. TO Contractors are advised that, upon request for this information from a third party, the TO Procurement Officer will be required to make an independent determination regarding whether the information may be disclosed.

#### 3.2.2 THE FINANCIAL RESPONSE

- A) This TORFP is for Project Management support services based on a fixed price monthly contract up to the hours defined in Attachment 1 PRICE PROPOSAL. The Financial Response shall include:
  - A description of any assumptions on which the Master Contractor's Financial Proposal is based;
     (Assumptions shall not constitute conditions, contingencies, or exceptions to the price proposal).
  - 2) Attachment 1 Completed Price Proposal.
- B) The Contract shall use the following criteria in determining the Financial Response.
  - 1) DLLR is requesting Offerors provide comparison of fully loaded rates in order to make the best decision for the state. Offeror shall follow the price proposal outline and provide the following:

- a) DLLR is seeking <u>fully loaded hourly rates with a fixed price unit</u> for T&M services for experienced offsite/onsite Project Management support. The fixed price shall be based on direct labor hours authorized and expended at the fully loaded hourly rates. The labor rates for the labor category shall be the fully loaded hourly rate that includes all direct costs, indirect costs, general and administrative, and profit for the TO Contractor. TO Contractor resource management, invoicing, and progress reporting activities shall be included in the fully loaded rate.
- b) Alternatively, DLLR is seeking a <u>fully loaded monthly rate with a fixed price unit</u> for T&M services for experienced offsite/onsite Project Management support. The fixed price shall include all labor as well as all direct costs, indirect costs, general and administrative, and profit for the TO Contractor. TO Contractor resource management, invoicing, and progress reporting activities shall be included in the fully loaded rate.
- 2) The resulting contract from this TORFP will be an Indefinite Demand Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ) Fixed Labor Price contract (as defined in COMAR 21.06.03) subject to the contract ceiling amount that shall not be exceeded without the necessary Contract Modifications or Change Order (CO) approval requirements. The contract ceiling amount is based on the number of hours in Attachment 1, hours exceeding those numbers require Contract Modification or Change Order (CO) approval.
- 3) No other amounts or costs will be paid to the Contractor. Specifically, no taxes or assessments or license fees or permits of any type will be paid in addition to the prices(s) proposed on the Price Proposal.
- 4) The Offeror shall:
  - a) Not make any wording changes on the Price Proposal Form.
- b) Not specify any conditions or amendments to the Price Proposal Form.

The offer will be declared unacceptable if a) and/or b) are ignored.

## SECTION 4 – PROCEDURE FOR AWARDING A TO AGREEMENT

#### 4.1 EVALUATION CRITERIA

The Master Contractor will be selected from among all eligible Master Contractors within the appropriate functional area responding to the CATS II TORFP. In making the TOA award determination, the TO Requesting Agency will consider all information submitted in accordance with Section 3.

#### 4.2 TECHNICAL PROPOSAL EVALUATION CRITERIA

The following are technical criteria for evaluating a TO Proposal in descending order of importance.

- Experience of the Master Contractor's proposed personnel performing the requirements required in Section 2.6.
- The experience and certifications required in Section 2.9, of the Master Contractor's proposed personnel.
- The Master Contractor's understanding of the work to be accomplished.

#### 4.3 SELECTION PROCEDURES

- TO Proposals will be assessed throughout the evaluation process for compliance with the minimum personnel qualifications in Section 2.9 and quality of responses to Section 3.2.1 of the TORFP. All Master Contractor will receive a phone screen to determine if they meet minimum qualification. Master Contractor proposals that fail to meet the minimum qualifications will be deemed not reasonably susceptible for award, i.e., disqualified and their proposals eliminated from further consideration.
- For proposals that meet minimum qualifications, the State will conduct in-person interviews of the all technically qualified personnel proposed, as ranked by the evaluation committee, that meet minimum qualifications.
- TO Proposals deemed technically qualified will have their financial proposal considered. All others will be deemed not reasonably susceptible to award and will receive e-mail notice from the TO Procurement Officer of not being selected to perform the work.
- Qualified TO Proposal financial responses will be reviewed and ranked from lowest to highest price proposed.
- The most advantageous TO Proposal offer considering technical and financial submission shall be selected for the work assignment.

#### 4.4 COMMENCEMENT OF WORK UNDER A TO AGREEMENT

Commencement of work in response to a TO Agreement shall be initiated only upon issuance of a fully executed TO Agreement, Purchase Order and by a Notice to Proceed authorized by the TO Procurement Officer.

### ATTACHMENT 1 – PRICE PROPOSAL

#### FIXED PRICE PROPOSAL FOR CATS II TORFP # P00B2400008

	Pr	ROJECT MANAG	EER
YEAR 1 PRICING			
YEARLY LABOR	HOURLY LABOR	Hours	MONTH 1-12 PRICE
RATE*	RATE	HOURS	(HOURLY LABOR RATE X HOURS)
		2000	\$
YEAR 2 PRICING (OF	PTIONAL)		
YEARLY LABOR	HOURLY LABOR	Hours	MONTH 13-24 PRICE
RATE*	RATE	HOURS	(HOURLY LABOR RATE X HOURS)
		2000	\$
YEAR 3 PRICING (OF	PTIONAL 6 MONTHS)		
YEARLY LABOR	HOURLY LABOR	Houng	YEAR 3 PRICE
RATE*	RATE	Hours	(HOURLY LABOR RATE X HOURS)
		2000	\$
TOTAL EVALUATION PRICE (SUM OF YEARS 1-3)			\$
AUTHORIZED INDIV	IDUAL NAME	_	COMPANY NAME
TITLE		_	COMPANY TAX ID#

<sup>\*</sup> Offerors are asked to propose both an annual rate (fixed price) and an hour rate. DLLR reserves the right to apply either the proposed Yearly Labor Rate or the proposed Hourly Labor Rate.

The Yearly Labor Rate requires a minimum of 1920 work hours annually. Actual work hours may exceed 1920.

The 2000 hours monthly is used for calculation purposes only, and may not reflect actual hours worked.

The Hourly Labor Rate cannot exceed the Master Contract rate, but may be lower.

Both rates must include all direct and indirect costs and profit for the Master Contractor to perform under the TOA.

Contractor travel expenses are not reimbursable. Evaluation Hours are for evaluation purposes only and do not represent actual hours to be worked or invoiced.

Monthly payment for the deliverable/s described in TORFP Section 3 requires a completed Deliverable Product Acceptance Form (DPAF) included as Attachment 10.

SUBMIT THE COMPLETED FORM WITH REQUIRED SIGNATURES WITH THE FINANCIAL RESPONSE

#### ATTACHMENT 2 - TASK ORDER AGREEMENT

#### CATS II TORFP # P00B2400008 OF MASTER CONTRACT #060B9800035

This Task Order Agreement ("TO Agreement") is made this day of Month, 20XX by and between Task Order Contractor (TO Contractor) and the STATE OF MARYLAND, Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation.

IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual premises and the covenants herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

- 1. Definitions. In this TO Agreement, the following words have the meanings indicated:
  - a. "Agency" means the TO Requesting Agency, in this case the Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation, as identified in the CATS II TORFP # P00B2400008.
  - b. "CATS II TORFP" means the Task Order Request for Proposals # P00B2400008, dated MONTH DAY, YEAR, including any addenda.
  - c. "Master Contract" means the CATS II Master Contract between the Maryland Department of Budget and Management and TO Contractor dated MONTH DAY, YEAR.
  - d. "TO Procurement Officer" means Ms. Brenda Lee. The Agency may change the TO Procurement Officer at any time by written notice to the TO Contractor.
  - e. "TO Agreement" means this signed TO Agreement between DLLR and TO Contractor.
  - f. "TO Contractor" means the CATS II Master Contractor awarded this TO Agreement, whose principal business address is \_\_\_\_\_\_ and whose principal office in Maryland is \_\_\_\_\_.
  - g. "TO Manager" means Mr. Brian Smith. The Agency may change the TO Manager at any time by written notice to the TO Contractor.
  - h. "TO Proposal Technical" means the TO Contractor's technical response to the CATS II TORFP dated date of TO Proposal Technical.
  - i. "TO Proposal Financial" means the TO Contractor's financial response to the CATS II TORFP dated date of TO Proposal Financial.
  - j. "TO Proposal" collectively refers to the TO Proposal Technical and TO Proposal Financial

#### 2.0 Scope of Work

- 2.1 This TO Agreement incorporates all of the terms and conditions of the Master Contract and shall not in any way amend, conflict with or supersede the Master Contract.
- 2.2 The TO Contractor shall, in full satisfaction of the specific requirements of this TO Agreement, provide the services set forth in Section 2 of the CATS II TORFP. These services shall be provided in accordance with the Master Contract, this TO Agreement and incorporated herein by reference. If there is any conflict between this TO Agreement and any of these Exhibits, the following order of precedence shall determine the prevailing provision:
  - a. The TO Agreement,
  - b. Exhibit B TO Proposal-Technical

- c. Exhibit C TO Proposal-Financial
- 2.2 The TO Procurement Officer may, at any time, by written order, make changes in the work within the general scope of the TO Agreement. No other order, statement or conduct of the TO Procurement Officer or any other person shall be treated as a change or entitle the TO Contractor to an equitable adjustment under this Section. Except as otherwise provided in this TO Agreement, if any change under this Section causes an increase or decrease in the TO Contractor's cost of, or the time required for the performance of any part of the work, whether or not changed by the order, an equitable adjustment in the TO Agreement price shall be made and the TO Agreement modified in writing accordingly. The TO Contractor must assert in writing its right to an adjustment under this Section within thirty (30) days of receipt of written change order and shall include a written statement setting forth the nature and cost of such claim. No claim by the TO Contractor shall be allowed if asserted after final payment under this TO Agreement. Failure to agree to an adjustment under this Section shall be a dispute under the Disputes clause of the Master Contract. Nothing in this Section shall excuse the TO Contractor from proceeding with the TO Agreement as changed.

## 3.0 Time for Performance

Unless terminated earlier as provided in the Master Contract, the TO Contractor shall provide the services described in the TO Proposal and in accordance with the CATS II TORFP on receipt of a Notice to Proceed from the TO Manager. The term of this TO Agreement is for a period of \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, commencing on the date of Notice to Proceed and terminating on Month Day, Year.

## 4.0 Consideration and Payment

- 4.1 The consideration to be paid the TO Contractor shall be done so in accordance with the CATS II TORFP and shall not exceed \$\_\_\_\_\_\_. Any work performed by the TO Contractor in excess of the not-to-exceed ceiling amount of the TO Agreement without the prior written approval of the TO Manager is at the TO Contractor's risk of non-payment.
- 4.2 Payments to the TO Contractor shall be made as outlined Section 2 of the CATS II TORFP, but no later than thirty (30) days after the Agency's receipt of an invoice for services provided by the TO Contractor, acceptance by the Agency of services provided by the TO Contractor, and pursuant to the conditions outlined in Section 4 of this Agreement.
- 4.3 Each invoice for services rendered must include the TO Contractor's Federal Tax Identification Number which is \_\_\_\_\_\_. Charges for late payment of invoices other than as prescribed by Title 15, Subtitle 1, of the State Finance and Procurement Article, Annotated Code of Maryland, as from time-to-time amended, are prohibited. Invoices must be submitted to the Agency TO Manager unless otherwise specified herein.
- 4.4 In addition to any other available remedies, if, in the opinion of the TO Procurement Officer, the TO Contractor fails to perform in a satisfactory and timely manner, the TO Procurement Officer may refuse or limit approval of any invoice for payment, and may cause payments to the TO Contractor to be reduced or withheld until such time as the TO Contractor meets performance standards as established by the TO Procurement Officer.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have executed this TO Agreement as of the date hereinabove set forth.

## TO Contractor Name

By: Type or Print TO Contractor POC	Date	
Witness: STATE OF MARYLAND, Department of Lab	or, Licensing and Regulation	
By: Brenda Lee, TO Procurement Officer	Date	
Witness:		

#### ATTACHMENT 3 – CONFLICT OF INTEREST AFFIDAVIT AND DISCLOSURE

A. "Conflict of interest" means that because of other activities or relationships with other persons, a person is unable or potentially unable to render impartial assistance or advice to the State, or the person's objectivity in performing the contract work is or might be otherwise impaired, or a person has an unfair competitive advantage.

B. "Person" has the meaning stated in COMAR 21.01.02.01B(64) and includes a bidder, Offeror, Contractor, consultant, or subcontractor or sub-consultant at any tier, and also includes an employee or agent of any of them if the employee or agent has or will have the authority to control or supervise all or a portion of the work for which a bid or offer is made.

C. The bidder or Offeror warrants that, except as disclosed in §D, below, there are no relevant facts or circumstances now giving rise or which could, in the future, give rise to a conflict of interest.

D. The following facts or circumstances give rise or could in the future give rise to a conflict of interest (explain in detail—attach additional sheets if necessary):

E. The bidder or Offeror agrees that if an actual or potential conflict of interest arises after the date of this affidavit, the bidder or Offeror shall immediately make a full disclosure in writing to the procurement officer of all relevant facts and circumstances. This disclosure shall include a description of actions which the bidder or Offeror has taken and proposes to take to avoid, mitigate, or neutralize the actual or potential conflict of interest. If the contract has been awarded and performance of the contract has begun, the Contractor shall continue performance until notified by the procurement officer of any contrary action to be taken.

I DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE AND AFFIRM UNDER THE PENALTIES OF PERJURY THAT THE CONTENTS OF THIS AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION, AND BELIEF.

Date:	By:
	(Authorized Representative and Affiant)

SUBMIT AS A .PDF FILE WITH TO RESPONSE

#### ATTACHMENT 4 – LABOR CLASSIFICATION PERSONNEL RESUME SUMMARY

#### **INSTRUCTIONS:**

- 1. Master Contractors must comply with all personnel requirements under the Master Contract RFP 060B9800035.
- 2. Only labor categories proposed in the Master Contractor's Financial Proposal may be proposed under the CATS II TORFP process.
- 3. For each person proposed in any of the labor categories, complete one Labor Category Personnel Resume Summary to document how the proposed person meets each of the minimum requirements. This summary is required at the time of the interview.
  - For example: If you propose John Smith, who is your subcontractor, and you believe he meets the requirements of the Group Facilitator, you will complete the top section of the form by entering John Smith's name and the subcontractor's company name. You will then complete the right side of the Group Facilitator form documenting how the individual meets each of the requirements. Where there is a time requirement such as three months experience, you must provide the dates from and to showing an amount of time that equals or exceeds mandatory time requirement; in this case, three months.
- 4. Each form also includes examples of duties to perform. The proposed person must be able to fulfill those duties.
- 5. For each subject matter expert, the State will identify the particular area of expertise and the Master Contractor shall provide proof the individual has qualifications within that area of expertise.
- 6. Additional information may be attached to each Labor Category Personnel Resume Summary that may assist a full and complete understanding of the individual being proposed.

# ATTACHMENT 4 – LABOR CLASSIFICATION PERSONNEL RESUME SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

Proposed Individual's Name/Company:	,		
	How does the proposed individual meet each requirement?		
LABOR CLASSIFICATION TITLE – Project Manager			
Education: At least a Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the Information Technology discipline or related field. A Master's Degree is preferred.			
<ul> <li>Experience:</li> <li>A Bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the Information Technology discipline or related field. A Master's Degree is preferred.</li> <li>Current PMI certification and at least five (5) years of experience in applying the PMBOK methodology to project management.</li> <li>Minimum of two (2) projects where System Development Life Cycle (SDLC) documentation was required.</li> <li>Minimum of three (3) years of experience with Windows, SharePoint, IBM mainframe database and mobile technology.</li> <li>Minimum of five (5) years of experience in managing IT related projects specifically and must demonstrate a leadership role in at least three (3) successful projects that were delivered on time, on budget, and within scope.</li> <li>Minimum of two (2) projects where the proposed personnel was responsible for business requirements gathering and documentation.</li> </ul>			
Certifications: Current PMI certification			
<ul> <li>Duties: Described in Section 2.6.1 including:</li> <li>Project Management Support</li> <li>Project Management Plan</li> <li>Work Breakdown Structure (WBS)</li> <li>Integrated Master Schedule</li> <li>Communications Plan</li> <li>Risk Management Plan (RMP) and Risk Registry</li> <li>Deliverable Comments Matrix (DCM)</li> <li>Change Management Plan</li> <li>Requirements Traceability Matrix (RTM)</li> </ul>			

•	Quality Assurance Plan	
•	Master Status Report	
•	Other management plans as deemed necessary	
	by the TO Manager.	

The information provided on this form for this labor class is true and correct to the best of my knowledge:

Contractor's Contract Administrator:			
Signature	Date		
Proposed Individual:			
Signature	Date		

SUBMIT WITH TO RESPONSE

## ATTACHMENT 5 – DIRECTIONS TO THE PRE-TO PROPOSAL CONFERENCE

The Pre-Proposal Conference will be held:

## Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation,

1100 N. Eutaw, Basement Conference Room Baltimore, MD 21201

#### Street Parking

#### From Washington DC

- Take the Balt-Wash Pkwy toward Baltimore
- Continue onto S Paca St
- Turn left onto McCulloh St
- Turn right onto **Dolphin St**
- Take the 2nd right onto **N Eutaw St**
- Destination will be on the right

#### From Philadelphia, PA

- I-95 S Entering Maryland
- Continue onto **I-895 S**
- Take exit 14 for Moravia Rd toward US-40/Pulaski Hwy
- Keep left at the fork, follow signs for Moravia Rd E/Pulaski Hwy
- Turn left onto Moravia Rd
- Take the ramp onto **US-40** W
- Turn right onto N Paca St
- Turn left onto McCulloh St
- Turn right onto **Dolphin St**
- Take the 2nd right onto **N Eutaw St**
- Destination will be on the right

#### From Frederick, Maryland

- I-70 E to the exit toward I-695 S
- Keep right at the fork and merge onto **I-695 S**
- Take exit 15A to merge onto US-40 E/Baltimore National Pike toward Baltimore
- Slight left onto **Edmondson Ave**
- Turn right onto W Franklin St
- Continue onto US-40 E/W Mulberry St
- Continue to follow US-40 E
- Turn left onto N Martin Luther King Jr Blvd
- Turn left onto McCulloh St
- Turn right onto **Dolphin St**
- Take the 2nd right onto **N Eutaw St**
- Destination will be on the right

# ATTACHMENT 6 - Non-Disclosure Agreement (Offeror)

"the State	(hereinafter referred to as "the OFFEROR") and the State of Maryland (hereinafter referred to as ").		
Tax Field necessary	R warrants and represents that it intends to submit a TO Proposal in response to CATS II TORFP #P00B2400008 fo Audit Improvement Project Management support. In order for the OFFEROR to submit a TO Proposal, it will be for the State to provide the OFFEROR with access to certain confidential information including, but not limited, to All such information provided by the State shall be considered Confidential Information regardless of format, or media upon which or in which such information is contained or provided, regardless of whether it is oral		
written, el	lectronic, or any other form, and regardless of whether the information is marked as "Confidential Information". As a for its receipt and access to the Confidential Information described in Section 1.6 of the TORFP, OFFEROR agrees a		
	OFFEROR will not copy, disclose, publish, release, transfer, disseminate or use for any purpose in any form any Confidential Information received under Section 1.6, except in connection with the preparation of its TO Proposal.		
	Each employee or agent of the OFFEROR who receives or has access to the Confidential Information shall execute copy of this Agreement and the OFFEROR shall provide originals of such executed Agreements to the State. Each employee or agent of the OFFEROR who signs this Agreement shall be subject to the same terms, conditions requirements and liabilities set forth herein that are applicable to the OFFEROR.		
	OFFEROR shall return the Confidential Information to the State within five business days of the State's Notice or recommended award. If the OFFEROR does not submit a Proposal, the OFFEROR shall return the Confidentia Information to Brenda Lee at Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation, Contract and Procurement on or before the due date for Proposals.		
	OFFEROR acknowledges that the disclosure of the Confidential Information may cause irreparable harm to the State and agrees that the State may obtain an injunction to prevent the disclosure, copying, or other impermissible use of the Confidential Information. The State's rights and remedies hereunder are cumulative and the State expressly reserves any and all rights, remedies, claims and actions that it may have now or in the future to protect the Confidentia Information and/or to seek damages for the OFFEROR's failure to comply with the requirements of this Agreement The OFFEROR consents to personal jurisdiction in the Maryland State Courts.		
	In the event the State suffers any losses, damages, liabilities, expenses, or costs (including, by way of example only attorneys' fees and disbursements) that are attributable, in whole or in part to any failure by the OFFEROR or an employee or agent of the OFFEROR to comply with the requirements of this Agreement, OFFEROR and sucl employees and agents of OFFEROR shall hold harmless and indemnify the State from and against any such losses damages, liabilities, expenses, and/or costs.		
6.	This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Maryland.		
	. OFFEROR acknowledges that pursuant to Section 11-205.1 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of th Annotated Code of Maryland, a person may not willfully make a false or fraudulent statement or representation of material fact in connection with a procurement contract. Persons making such statements are guilty of a felony and or conviction subject to a fine of not more than \$20,000 and/or imprisonment not exceeding 5 years or both. OFFEROI further acknowledges that this Agreement is a statement made in connection with a procurement contract.		
	The individual signing below warrants and represents that they are fully authorized to bind the OFFEROR to the term and conditions specified in this Agreement. If signed below by an individual employee or agent of the OFFEROR under Section 2 of this Agreement, such individual acknowledges that a failure to comply with the requirement specified in this Agreement may result in personal liability.		
OFFERONAME: ADDRES	TITLE:		

Submit as required in Section 1.6 of the TORFP  $\,$ 

## ATTACHMENT 7 - NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT (TO CONTRACTOR)

day of

THIS NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made as of this

, 200, by and between the State of Maryland ("the State"), acting	by and through its Department
of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (the "Department"), and	
corporation with its principal business office located at	
office in Maryland located at	
RECITALS	
WHEREAS, the TO Contractor has been awarded a Task Order Agreement	
Audit Improvement Project Management TORFP No. P00B2400008 dated	, (the "TORFP)
issued under the Consulting and Technical Services II procurement issued by the	
060B9800035; and	
WHEREAS, in order for the TO Contractor to perform the work required un	nder the TO Agreement, it will
be necessary for the State to provide the TO Contractor and the TO Contractor's emp	loyees and agents (collectively
the "TO Contractor's Personnel") with access to certain confiden	tial information regarding
(the "Confidential Information").	
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of being given access to the	Confidential Information in
connection with the TORFP and the TO Agreement, and for other good and valuable	consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which the parties acknowledge, the parties do hereby agree as follows:	
1. Confidential Information means any and all information provided by or made	le available by the State to the
TO Contractor in connection with the TO Agreement, regardless of the fo	•
which the Confidential Information is provided and regardless of wh	
Information is marked as such. Confidential Information includes, by way	•
that the TO Contractor views, takes notes from, copies (if the State agrees	

TO Contractor shall not, without the State's prior written consent, copy, disclose, publish, release, transfer, disseminate, use, or allow access for any purpose or in any form, any Confidential Information provided by the State except for the sole and exclusive purpose of performing under the TO Agreement. TO Contractor shall limit access to the Confidential Information to the TO Contractor's Personnel who have a demonstrable need to know such Confidential Information in order to perform under the TO Agreement and who have agreed in writing to be bound by the disclosure and use limitations pertaining to the Confidential Information.

possesses or is otherwise provided access to and use of by the State in relation to the TO Agreement.

- 3. If the TO Contractor intends to disseminate any portion of the Confidential Information to non-employee agents who are assisting in the TO Contractor's performance of the TORFP or who will otherwise have a role in performing any aspect of the TORFP, the TO Contractor shall first obtain the written consent of the State to any such dissemination. The State may grant, deny, or condition any such consent, as it may deem appropriate in its sole and absolute subjective discretion.
- 4. TO Contractor hereby agrees to hold the Confidential Information in trust and in strictest confidence, to adopt or establish operating procedures and physical security measures, and to take all other measures necessary to protect the Confidential Information from inadvertent release or disclosure to unauthorized third parties and to prevent all or any portion of the Confidential Information from falling into the public domain or into the possession of persons not bound to maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information.
- 5. TO Contractor shall promptly advise the State in writing if it learns of any unauthorized use, misappropriation, or disclosure of the Confidential Information by any of the TO Contractor's Personnel or the TO Contractor's former Personnel. TO Contractor shall, at its own expense, cooperate with the State in seeking injunctive or other equitable relief against any such person(s).

- 6. TO Contractor shall, at its own expense, return to the Department, all copies of the Confidential Information in its care, custody, control or possession upon request of the Department or on termination of the TO Agreement.
- 7. A breach of this Agreement by the TO Contractor or by the TO Contractor's Personnel shall constitute a breach of the TO Agreement between the TO Contractor and the State.
- 8. TO Contractor acknowledges that any failure by the TO Contractor or the TO Contractor's Personnel to abide by the terms and conditions of use of the Confidential Information may cause irreparable harm to the State and that monetary damages may be inadequate to compensate the State for such breach. Accordingly, the TO Contractor agrees that the State may obtain an injunction to prevent the disclosure, copying or improper use of the Confidential Information. The TO Contractor consents to personal jurisdiction in the Maryland State Courts. The State's rights and remedies hereunder are cumulative and the State expressly reserves any and all rights, remedies, claims and actions that it may have now or in the future to protect the Confidential Information and/or to seek damages from the TO Contractor and the TO Contractor's Personnel for a failure to comply with the requirements of this Agreement. In the event the State suffers any losses, damages, liabilities, expenses, or costs (including, by way of example only, attorneys' fees and disbursements) that are attributable, in whole or in part to any failure by the TO Contractor or any of the TO Contractor's Personnel to comply with the requirements of this Agreement, the TO Contractor shall hold harmless and indemnify the State from and against any such losses, damages, liabilities, expenses, and/or costs.
- 9. TO Contractor and each of the TO Contractor's Personnel who receive or have access to any Confidential Information shall execute a copy of an agreement substantially similar to this Agreement and the TO Contractor shall provide originals of such executed Agreements to the State.
- 10. The parties further agree that:
  - a. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Maryland;
  - b. The rights and obligations of the TO Contractor under this Agreement may not be assigned or delegated, by operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the State;
  - c. The State makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy or completeness of any Confidential Information;
  - d. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement;
  - e. Signatures exchanged by facsimile are effective for all purposes hereunder to the same extent as original signatures; and
  - f. The Recitals are not merely prefatory but are an integral part hereof.

CONTRACTOR/CONTRACTOR'S PERSONNEL:	MARYLAND DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, LICENSING AND
	REGULATION
NAME:	Name:
TITLE:	TITLE:
DATE:	DATE:

SUBMIT AS REQUIRED IN SECTION 1.6 OF THE TORFP

## ATTACHMENT 8 - TO CONTRACTOR SELF-REPORTING CHECKLIST

The purpose of this checklist is for CATS II Master Contractors to self-report on adherence to procedures for task orders (TO) awarded under the CATS II master contract. Requirements for TO management can be found in the CATS II master contract RFP and at the TORFP level. The Master Contractor is requested to complete and return this form by the Checklist Due Date below. Master Contractors may attach supporting documentation as needed. Please send the completed checklist and direct any related questions to <a href="mailto:contractoversight@doit.state.md.us">contractoversight@doit.state.md.us</a> with the TO number in the subject line.

Master Contractor:				
<b>Master Contractor Contact / Phone:</b>				
<b>Procuring State Agency Name:</b>	Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation			
TO Title:	Tax Audit Improvement Project			
TO Number:	P00B2400008			
TO Type (Fixed Price, T&M, or Both):	T&M			
Checklist Issue Date:				
Checklist Due Date:				
	s with Invoices Linked to Deliverables			
	Request for Proposals) structured to link invoice payments			
to distinct deliverables with specific accepta				
Yes No (If no, skip to Section 2.				
	ng deliverable prices shown in the accepted Financial			
Proposal?				
Yes No (If no, explain why)				
C) Is the deliverable acceptance process be	ing adhered to as defined in the TORFP?			
Yes No (If no, explain why)	<u> </u>			
Section 2 – Task Orders with Invo	oices Linked to Time, Labor Rates and Materials			
A) If the TO involves material costs, are material costs passed to the agency without markup by the				
Master Contractor?				
Yes No (If no, explain why)	<u></u>			
B) Are labor rates the same or less than the	rates proposed in the accepted Financial Proposal?			
Yes No (If no, explain why)	<u> </u>			
C) Is the Master Contractor providing to	imesheets or other appropriate documentation to support			
invoices?				
Yes No (If no, explain why)				
Section 3 – Substitution of Personnel				
A) Has there been any substitution of personnel?				
Yes No (If no, skip to Section 4.)				
B) Did the Master Contractor request each personnel substitution in writing?				
Yes No (If no, explain why)				
C) Does each accepted substitution possess equivalent or better education, experience and				
qualifications than incumbent personnel?				
Yes No (If no, explain why)				

D) Was the substitute approved by the agency in writing?			
Yes No (If no, explain why)			
Section 4 – MBE Participation			
A) What is the MBE goal as a percentage of the TO value? (If there is no MBE goal, skip to Section 5)			
%			
B) Are MBE reports D-5 and D-6 submitted monthly?			
Yes No (If no, explain why)			
C) What is the actual MBE percentage to date? (divide the dollar amount paid to date to the MBE by the total amount paid to date on the TO)			
%			
(Example - \$3,000 was paid to date to the MBE sub-contractor; \$10,000 was paid to date on the TO; the MBE percentage is $30\%$ (3,000 $\div$ 10,000 = 0.30))			
D) Is this consistent with the planned MBE percentage at this stage of the project?			
Yes No (If no, explain why)			
E) Has the Master Contractor expressed difficulty with meeting the MBE goal?  Yes No (If yes, explain the circumstances and any planned corrective actions)			
(11 yes, explain the circumstances and any planned corrective actions)			
Section 5 – TO Change Management			
A) Is there a written change management procedure applicable to this TO?			
Yes No (If no, explain why)			
B) Does the change management procedure include the following?			
Yes No Sections for change description, justification, and sign-off			
Yes No Sections for impact on cost, scope, schedule, risk and quality (i.e., the impact			
of change on satisfying TO requirements)  Yes  No A formal group charged with reviewing / approving / declining changes (e.g.,			
change control board, steering committee, or management team)			
C) Have any change orders been executed?			
Yes No			
(If yes, explain expected or actual impact on TO cost, scope, schedule, risk and quality)			
D) Is the change management procedure being followed?			
Yes No (If no, explain why)			

### ATTACHMENT 9 - DLLR RESOURCES AND DATA SHARING AGREEMENT

# I understand that I will or may be exposed to certain confidential data maintained by the Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation ("DLLR") which was released to my employer, the \_\_\_\_\_\_\_. These confidential records include data related to participants who have or are currently receiving employment, training or Unemployment Insurance services. I understand that I may use the data only in conjunction with certain duties with respect to my employment, as specifically described below: I agree to retain original data files, and any derivative files that contain identification of employers and employees, only for the period of time required to complete the explicitly stated purposes above. When these purposes are completed, I agree to immediately notify DLLR to either return the files or certify

I understand that I may not discuss with or reveal to anyone, in any manner, any of the information I obtain from that data, except to other persons also having authorization to this data, and only for purposes of performing my duties as set forth above. I understand that I may not reveal such information to my friends or family, nor use the information for any personal, commercial, or political use.

destruction of the files in writing within 10 calendar days of such notice.

I understand that the data is confidential and protected by federal and state laws, and that if I improperly use or reveal this confidential information, I may be subject to prosecution, fines, imprisonment, or other sanctions permissible under law. I understand and agree that I will be liable for any damages resulting from my release of confidential information.

I have read this entire statement and understand that the confidential data must be used only for the specific purpose set forth above and that use of this information for any other purpose is strictly prohibited.

Signature	
Name - Print or Type	
Date	

# ATTACHMENT 10- CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

# **DELIVERABLE PRODUCT ACCEPTANCE FORM (DPAF)**

(Submitted monthly by the Awarded TO Contractor)

ontractor:	
Date Submitted:	
Performance Period (Month / Year):	
Agency Name:	
ΓΟ Manager / Agency Contact:	
Reference BPO #	
Reference B1 0 m	
THE AGENCY SHALL COMPLETE THE	INFORMATION RELOW
Project Manager Work Performance Area	Satisfactory? (Yes / No)
Attendance / Timeliness	•
Work Productivity	
Work Quality	
Teamwork	
Communication	
Customer Service	
Project Team PMBOK Performance Area	PMBOK Performance Rating*
Integration Management	
Scope Management	
Time/Schedule Management	
Cost Management	
Quality Management	
Human Resources Management	
Communications Management	
Risk Management	
Procurement Management	
Average PMBOK Performance Rating	:
*Rating based on <i>PMBOK Performance Rating Criteria</i> be	
Rating based on I mbok I erjormance Rating Crueria be	now.
The Project Manager shall maintain a "Satisfactory" for each	h work performance area above and an
"Average PMBOK Performance Rating" of 3 or higher. Ur	•
PMBOK rating below 3 may trigger deliverable rejection as	
action.	ia payment withholding pending corrective
action.	
The Deliverable "PSCS Project Management Se	rvices? is
The Denverable 15C5 110 ject Management Se	i vices is.
ACCEPTED DEJECTED (Eventsin Cost	mastive Astion Deleve)
ACCEPTED REJECTED (Explain Con	recuve Action Below)
TO M. G.	D . (1)
TO Manager Signature	Date Signed

# **Monthly Project Management Process Evaluation Rating Criteria**

The TO Manager will evaluate and rate Project Manager's performance on a monthly basis for each of the nine Knowledge Areas below. Processes should be at score of 3 or higher for applicable processes. Rating

Project Integration Management			
		<b>Indicators of</b>	
0	Not applicable for project.	<u>Process</u>	
	Project Manager has not established practices, standards, or processes for	1. Project	
	project. Work performed in ad hoc fashion and does not include integration	Charter	
1	management.	2. Project	
	Project Manager has established basic, documented processes for project	Management	
	planning and reporting exist. Management only involved on high-visibility	Plan (PMP)	
2	projects.	3. Integrated	
	Project Manager has institutionalized the Project integration efforts with	Project Plan	
	documented procedures and standards. Project Manager is beginning to	4. Updated Project	
3	integrate all project data.	Schedule	
	Project Manager utilizes processes/standards for project on a regular basis and		
	integrated with other processes/systems. Decisions on project based on		
4	performance metrics.		
	Project Manager has established best practices including project integration		
	improvement procedures utilized. Lessons learned are regularly examined and		
5	used to improve documented processes.		
Projec	t Scope Management		
		Indicators of	
0	Not applicable for project.	Process	
	Project has general statement of functional requirements. Little or no scope	Project Scope	
	management or documentation for project. Management and stakeholders are	Statement	
1	aware of key milestones only.	2. Change Request	
	Project Manager has put basic scope management process in place. Scope	and Approval	
2	management is meeting techniques irregularly.	Process	
	Project Manager has implemented full project management process	3. Requirements	
	documented and is actively utilizing process on regular basis. Stakeholders are	Traceability	
3	engaged and actively participating in scope decisions.	Matrix (RTM)	
	Project Manager is utilizing full project management processes for the project.	4. Change Control	
4	Projects managed and evaluated in light of other competing requirements.	Board	
	Project Manager's effectiveness and efficiency metrics drive project scope		
5	decisions by appropriate levels of management.		
Projec	t Time/Schedule Management		
		Indicators of	
0	Not applicable for project.	Process	
	Project Manager has not established planning or scheduling standards. Lack of	1. WBS	
1	documentation makes it difficult to achieve repeatable project success.	2. Schedule	
	Project Manager has established basic processes, but is not performing	Management	
2	planning and scheduling on a regular basis.	Plan	
	Project Manager has established document time management processes and	3. Activities	
3	utilizes on a regular basis. Project-wide integration includes project	duration based	
L		<u> </u>	

1 2	Project Manager has not performed planning and staffing activities for project. Project teams are ad hoc. Human resource time and cost is not measured. Project Manager has put processes in place that defines how to plan and	<ol> <li>Organization         Chart     </li> <li>Roles and</li> </ol>
<u>U</u>	Project Manager has not performed planning and staffing activities for project.	1. Organization
V	11 1 1	
0	Not applicable for project.	Indicators of Process
Projec	et Human Resource Management	
5	Project Manager has implemented guidelines for implementing improvements back into the process. Metrics are key to product quality decisions throughout the SDLC.	Process
4	Project Manager has best practices for standard quality management processes. Management is actively involved in coordinating quality standards and assurance. Some metrics are developed.	4. Formal Deliverable Acceptance
3	Project Manager has established well documented quality management process and instituted standards for the project. Regular quality management activities are being executed including deliverables acceptance.	3. User Acceptance Criteria (UAC) per SDLC phases
2	Project Manager has established basic organizational project quality policy has been adopted. Project Management and Team encourage quality processes and policy for project.	2. Deliverables Acceptance Criteria defined
1	Project Manager has not established project quality practices or standards.  Management is considering how they should define "quality".	1. Quality Assurance Plan
0	Not applicable for project.	Indicators of Process
5 Projec	effectiveness metrics for decision making.	
_	Project Manager and management are actively using efficiency and	
4	financial, and human resources systems. Standards tied to agency processes.  Project Manager leverages lessons learned to improve documented processes.	
3	Costs are fully integrated and reflect the true cost of the project.  Project Manager has integrated cost planning and tracking with Project Office,	4. Cost Control
2	project.  Project Manager has standardized cost management practices for project team.	Management Plan
1	Project Manager has established processes for cost estimating, reporting, and performance measurement. Cost management processes are used for the	<ul><li>2. Project Cost     Baseline</li><li>3. Cost</li></ul>
1	Project Manager has not established practices or standards. Cost process documentation is ad hoc and individual project members follow informal practices.	Cost Estimates     Activity     Project Cost
0	Not applicable for project.	Indicators of Process
	et Cost Management	
5	Project Manager has additionally incorporated improvement procedures utilized for time management processes. Lessons learned are examined and used to improve documented processes.	
4	Project Manager has established good practices in time management including utilization of historical data to forecast future performance. Project management decisions based on efficiency and effectiveness metrics.	
	dependencies.	on historic data

	manage human resources. Resource tracking is loosely performed for project.	responsibilities
	Project Manager has established a regularly resource management process.	matrix
	Professional development program activities for team and organization have	3. Staffing
3	been established for successful implementation of project.	Management
	Project Manager has implemented resource management best practices	Plan
	including resource forecasts used for project planning and prioritization.	4. Team Training
4	Project team performance measured and integrated with team development.	Plan
	110 jeet team performance measured and integrated with team development.	5. Team
	Project Manager includes Human Resource processes which engage teams to	performance
	document project lessons learned. Improvements are incorporated into human	assessment
5	resources management process.	assessinent
	Communication Management	
Troject	Communication Management	Indicators of
0	Not applicable for project.	Process
- <del></del>	Project Manager performing communications management on an ad hoc basis	1. Communication
1	with informal status reports to management.	
	Project Manager has established basic communications process including	Management Plan
	Communications Management Plan. Project progress reporting is occurring on	2. Project Performance
2	a more regular basis.	
	Project Manager has active involvement by executing a formal project	Reports
	communications plan. All stakeholders and project team members are aware	3. Stakeholder
3	of communications process.	Contact
	Project Manager has implemented best practices for communications	4. Processes for
4	management plan for the project.	communication
	Project Manager has put additional improvement process in place to	of Risk, Issues
	continuously improve project communications management. Lessons learned	and Decisions
5	are captured and incorporated.	
Project	Risk Management	
		<b>Indicators of</b>
0	Not applicable for project.	<u>Process</u>
	Project Manager has not established any risk management practices or	1. Risk
	standards for project. Documentation is minimal and results are not shared.	Management
1	Risk response is reactive.	Plan
	Project Manager has established basic risk management processes and have	2. Risk Register
	documented for the project. Team members are involved with risks process	3. Process for Risk
2	and risks are shared for project.	Register updates
	Project Manager has established regular risk management processes and risk	and
	activities, including identification and mitigation planning, are actively	communication
3	utilized for project.	of risk
	Project Manager has integrated risk processes with all aspect of project	4. Contingency
	reporting including time, cost, and resource systems. Metrics are used to	plans for risk
4	support risk decisions for the project.	r
	Project Manager has establish best practices in risk management including	
_	continuous improvement processes to ensure project is continually measured	
5	and managed against performance metrics.	

Project Procurement Management			
		<b>Indicators of</b>	
0	Not applicable for project.	Process	
	Project Manager has not established procurement process for project.	1.	Procurement
1	Processes are ad hoc at best with no clear plan defined.		Management Plan
	Project Manager has established basic process for procurement of goods	2.	Contract
	and services for project. Procurement Management Plan has been		Statement Of
2	developed for procurement of all project goods and services.		Work
	Project Manager has established standards for procurement management	3.	Evaluation
3	on project and integrated with Agency processes.		Criteria
	Project Manager has leverage procurement management best practices	4.	Cost Benefit
	such as make/buy decisions for the agency and project. Project		Analysis
	procurement practices are integrated with project management	5.	Make/Buy
4	mechanisms.		Decisions
	Project Manager has instituted on-going process improvements focus on		
5	procurement efficiency and effective metrics.		

# **ATTACHMENT 11 - Living Wage Requirements for Service Contracts**

- A. This contract is subject to the Living Wage requirements under Title 18, State Finance and Procurement Article, Annotated Code of Maryland and the regulations proposed by the Commissioner of Labor and Industry. The Living Wage generally applies to a Contractor or Subcontractor who performs work on a State contract for services that is valued at \$100,000 or more. An employee is subject to the Living Wage if he/she is at least 18 years old or will turn 18 during the duration of the contract; works at least 13 consecutive weeks on the State Contract and spends at least one-half of the employee's time during any work week on the State Contract.
- B. The Living Wage Law does not apply to:
  - (1) A Contractor who:
    - (A) has a State contract for services valued at less than \$100,000, or
    - (B) employs 10 or fewer employees and has a State contract for services valued at less than \$500,000.
  - (2) A Subcontractor who:
    - (A) performs work on a State contract for services valued at less than \$100,000,
    - (B) employs 10 or fewer employees and performs work on a State contract for services valued at less than \$500,000, or
    - (C) performs work for a contractor not covered by the Living Wage Law as defined in B(1)(B) above, or B (3) or C below.
  - (3) Service contracts for the following:
    - (A) services with a Public Service Company;
    - (B) services with a nonprofit organization;
    - (C) services with an officer or other entity that is in the Executive Branch of the State government and is authorized by law to enter into a procurement ("Unit"); or
    - (D) services between a Unit and a County or Baltimore City.
- C. If the Unit responsible for the State contract for services determines that application of the Living Wage would conflict with any applicable Federal program, the Living Wage does not apply to the contract or program.
- D. A Contractor must not split or subdivide a State contract for services, pay an employee through a third party, or treat an employee as an independent contractor or assign work to employees to avoid the imposition of any of the requirements of Title 18, State Finance and Procurement, Annotated Code of Maryland.
- E. Each Contractor/Subcontractor, subject to the Living Wage Law, shall post in a prominent and easily accessible place at the work site(s) of covered employees a notice of

- the Living Wage Rates, employee rights under the law, and the name, address, and telephone number of the Commissioner.
- F. The Commissioner of Labor and Industry shall adjust the wage rates by the annual average increase or decrease, if any, in the Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers for the Washington/Baltimore metropolitan area, or any successor index, for the previous calendar year, not later than 90 days after the start of each fiscal year. The Commissioner shall publish any adjustments to the wage rates on the Division of Labor and Industry's Website. An employer subject to the Living Wage Law must comply with the rate requirements during the initial term of the contract and all subsequent renewal periods, including any increases in the wage rate, required by the Commissioner, automatically upon the effective date of the revised wage rate.
- G. A Contractor/Subcontractor who reduces the wages paid to an employee based on the employer's share of the health insurance premium, as provided in §18-103(c), State Finance and Procurement Article, Annotated Code of Maryland, shall not lower an employee's wage rate below the minimum wage as set in §3-413, Labor and Employment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland. A Contractor/Subcontractor who reduces the wages paid to an employee based on the employer's share of health insurance premium shall comply with any record reporting requirements established by the Commissioner of Labor and Industry.
- H. A Contractor/Subcontractor may reduce the wage rates paid under §18-103(a), State Finance and Procurement, Annotated Code of Maryland, by no more than 50 cents of the hourly cost of the employer's contribution to an employee's deferred compensation plan. A Contractor/Subcontractor who reduces the wages paid to an employee based on the employer's contribution to an employee's deferred compensation plan shall not lower the employee's wage rate below the minimum wage as set in §3-413, Labor and Employment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland.
- I. Under Title 18, State and Finance Procurement Article, Annotated Code of Maryland, if the Commissioner determines that the Contractor/Subcontractor violated a provision of this title or regulations of the Commissioner, the Contractor/Subcontractor shall pay restitution to each affected employee, and the State may assess liquidated damages of \$20 per day for each employee paid less than the Living Wage.
- J. Information pertaining to reporting obligations may be found by going to the DLLR Website <a href="http://www.dllr.state.md.us/">http://www.dllr.state.md.us/</a> and clicking on Living Wage.

# ATTACHMENT 12 – LIVING WAGE AFFIDAVIT OF AGREEMENT

Maryland Living Wage Requirements-Service Contracts

Contract NoP00E	32400008	
Name of Contractor		
Address		
City	State	Zip Code
If the Contract is	Exempt from the Living Wage	Law
hereby affirms that		tive of the above named Contractor Maryland's Living Wage Law for the
Bidder/Offe Bidder/Offe less than \$500,000	eror employs more than 10 empl	vees and the proposed contract value is oyees and the proposed contract value
If the Contract is	a Living Wage Contract	
Contractor, hereby Procurement Articl reports to the Con contract. The Bidd wage at least the li State contract activ pay the required liv wage for hours spe with, and ensure its term of the contract wage rate establish	affirms our commitment to core, Annotated Code of Maryland mmissioner of Labor and Induster/Offeror agrees to pay covered ving rate in effect at the time strities, and to ensure that its Subring wage rate to their covered each on a State contract for services Subcontractors comply with, tot and all subsequent renewal p	representative of the above named and, if required, to submit all payrol stry with regard to the above stated demployees who are subject to living service is provided for hours spent or econtractors who are not exempt also amployees who are subject to the living ses. The Contractor agrees to comply the rate requirements during the initial eriods, including any increases in the bor and Industry, automatically upor
Baffirms it has no co		ere if applicable) The Bidder/Offerong reasons: (check all that apply):

All employee(s) proposed to work on the contract wi	•
the employee's time during every work week on the State con	
All employee(s) proposed to work on the contract	will be 17 years of age or
younger during the duration of the contract; or	est will weath loss than 12
All employee(s) proposed to work on the contract.	ict will work less than 15
The Commissioner of Labor and Industry reserves the right to other data that the Commissioner deems sufficient to confitime.	
Name of Authorized	
Representative:	
Signature of Authorized Representative	Date
Title	
Witness Name (Typed or Printed)	
Witness Signature	Date

## **ATTACHMENT 13 – Small Business Contract Affidavit**

# Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation

\*\*\*\*\*\* PROVIDING FALSE INFORMATION \*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Anyone providing false information to the State of Maryland in connection with obtaining or attempting to obtain a contract under Small Business Reserve or Preference procurement may be subject to the following:

- 1. A determination by a Procurement Officer that a bidder/offeror is not responsible;
- 2. A determination that a contract entered into is void or voidable under § 11-204 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland;
- 3. Suspension and debarment under Title 16 of the State Finance and Procurement Article;
- 4. Criminal prosecution for procurement fraud (§11- 205.1 of the State Finance and Procurement Article), perjury, or other crimes; and
- 5. Other actions permitted by law.

DATE: \_\_\_\_\_

****** FAILURE TO MEET MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS *******
Any Bidder or potential bidder failing to meet the minimum qualifications of a "small business"
specified in § 14-501(c) of the State Finance and Procurement Article will be ineligible to
participate in a procurement designated for a Small Business Reserve under § 14-504 or Small
Business Preference under § 14-206 - 207. Any person or company bidding on Small Business
Reserve or Preference procurement and not qualifying as a small business under § 14-501(c) will
have its bid or offer rejected on the ground that the bidder is not responsible.
I AFFIRM THAT:
To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, as of the date of submission of this
Bid/Proposal,(name of firm), meets the qualifications for
certification as a Small Business in Maryland. I further affirm that, if for any reason during the
term of the contract(name of firm) no longer meets the
qualifications for certification as a Small Business in Maryland, I will notify the Procurement
Officer within 30 days. I agree that a failure to so notify the Procurement Officer of this change
in circumstances may result in this contract being terminated for default.
I DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE AND AFFIRM UNDER THE PENALTIES OF PERJURY
THAT THE CONTENTS OF THIS AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST
OF MY KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION, AND BELIEF.
SMALL BUSINESS QUALIFICATION NUMBER

Date of Most Recent Qualification by DGS\_\_\_\_\_

Signature (Authorized Representative and Affidavit)

52